
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 
 FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  :  
      : 

v.    :  CRIMINAL NO. 17-617 
    : 

NAMIR WHITE and    : 
DARRELLL WYLIE   :  
 

MEMORANDUM OPINION 
 
Rufe, J.           June 15, 2018 
  

Defendant Namir White filed a renewed motion, in which Defendant Darrell Wylie has 

joined, to dismiss Counts One and Two of the Superseding Indictment for failure to state an 

offense.1  Because the Superseding Indictment adequately alleges the elements of the offenses 

charged, including the requisite commerce element of the Hobbs Act, the motion will be denied. 

I. BACKGROUND 

Counts One and Two of the Superseding Indictment charge Defendants with interfering 

with interstate commerce by robbery in violation of the Hobbs Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a) (Count 

One), and brandishing of a firearm during and in relation to a crime of violence in violation of 18 

U.S.C. §§ 924(C)(1)(A) (Count Two).  The alleges the following: 

Defendants Wylie and White offered to sell three firearms to a person identified as CS1, 

who was in fact a confidential informant acting at the direction of the Bureau of Alcohol, 

Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (ATF).2  The ATF is an agency that regulates the sale, 

possession, and transportation of firearms in interstate commerce and investigates and prosecutes 

                                                 
1 Defendants initially moved to dismiss Counts 1 and 2 of the four-count Indictment, dated November 28, 

2017.  After Defendants were charged in the Superseding Indictment containing 13 additional counts, the Court 
dismissed Defendants’ motion without prejudice and granted leave to file renewed motions.   

2 Superseding Indictment at 2.   
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persons involved in violent crime, unlawful firearms trafficking, and illegal possession of 

firearms.3  As part of its investigation into firearm related offenses, the ATF supplied CS1 with 

$3,200 drawn from ATF funds to purchase the firearms offered by Defendants.4   

The deception, however, was mutual.  On or about November 2, 2017 in Philadelphia, at 

the location of the planned sale, Defendants took the $3,200 in purchase money from CS1, and 

rather than hand over the promised firearms, forced him at gunpoint to leave without the money 

or the firearms.5   In doing, so, Defendants “obstructed, delayed and affected commerce and the 

movement of articles and commodities in commerce, and attempted to do so, by robbery.”6 

During and in relation to this robbery, which was a “crime of violence,” Defendants used, 

carried, brandished, and aided and abetted the use, carrying, and brandishing of a “Springfield, 

Model XDS, .45 caliber semiautomatic pistol, serial number XS687260.”7 

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 12 allows defendants to raise defects in an 

indictment, including failure to state an offense, by pretrial motion.8  A facially sufficient 

indictment must contain only a “plain, concise, and definite written statement of the essential 

facts constituting the offense charged.”9  The Third Circuit has held that an indictment is 

sufficient so long as it: “(1) contains the elements of the offense intended to be charged, (2) 

sufficiently apprises the defendant of what he must be prepared to meet, and (3) allows the 

defendant to show with accuracy to what extent he may plead a former acquittal or conviction in 
                                                 

3 Id. at 1-2.   
4 Id. at 2  
5 Id.  
6 Id. 
7 Id. at 3.   
8 Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b)(3). 
9 Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(c)(1).   
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the event of a subsequent prosecution.”10  “[N]o greater specificity than the statutory language is 

required so long as there is sufficient factual orientation to permit the defendant to prepare his 

defense and to invoke double jeopardy in the event of a subsequent prosecution.”11  “Generally, 

an indictment will satisfy these requirements where it informs the defendant of the statute he is 

charged with violating, lists the elements of a violation under the statute, and specifies the time 

period during which the violations occurred.”12   

III. ANALYSIS 

Defendants contend that Count One of the Superseding Indictment fails to state an 

offense under the Hobbs Act because it fails to allege facts that satisfy the “commerce” element 

of the Act, i.e. that Defendants’ conduct obstructed, delayed, or affected commerce.13  

Defendants also assert that this deficiency warrants dismissal of Count Two, which depends on 

Count One as its requisite “crime of violence.”   

Here, the allegations in Count One track the language of the Hobbs Act with respect to 

the commerce element.  The Hobbs Act criminalizes conduct that “in any way or degree 

obstructs, delays, or affects commerce or the movement of any article or commodity in 

commerce, by robbery or extortion . . . .”14  The Superseding Indictment correspondingly alleges 

                                                 
10 United States v. Kemp, 500 F.3d 257, 280 (3d Cir. 2007) (internal citation omitted).   
11 Id. (citing United States v. Rankin, 870 F.2d 109, 112 (3d Cir. 1989)); United States v. DeLaurentis, 230 

F.3d 659, 661 (3d Cir. 2000) (“The charges set forth in the two dismissed counts substantially track the language of 
the statute; the indictment is sufficient on its face.”). 

12 United States v. Stevenson, 832 F.3d 412, 424 (3d Cir. 2016), cert. denied, 137 S. Ct. 674 (2017). 
13 Defendant White’s original motion asserted this argument as a challenge both to the sufficiency of the 

indictment in stating an offense with respect to the two counts and to the Court’s subject matter jurisdiction over the 
offenses.  Defendants’ renewed motion does not appear to repeat the jurisdictional argument.  Regardless, the Court 
has subject matter jurisdiction over the offenses charged in Counts One and Two pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3231 
because “[t]he district courts of the United States shall have original jurisdiction, exclusive of the courts of the 
States, of all offenses against the laws of the United States,” and violations under the Hobbs Act and 18 U.S.C. 
§§ 924(c)(1)(A) are offenses against the laws of the United States.  18 U.S.C. § 3231. 

14 18 U.S.C.A. § 1951.  The term “commerce” is defined under 18 U.S.C. § 1951(b)(3) as “commerce 
within the District of Columbia, or any Territory or Possession of the United States; all commerce between any point 
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that Defendants “obstructed, delayed and affected commerce and the movement of articles and 

commodities in commerce, and attempted to do so, by robbery.”15  Moreover, the Superseding 

Indictment identifies the specific conduct constituting the offense—i.e., the taking of $3,200 

from CS1 at gunpoint—as well as the approximate time and location at which the alleged 

conduct occurred—i.e., “[o]n or about November 2, 2017 in Philadelphia.”16  Courts have held 

that such allegations tracking the language of the statute and providing a minimum degree of 

factual orientation as to the time and place of the alleged conduct are sufficient to state an 

offense under the Hobbs Act.17   

Contrary to Defendants’ contention, the Superseding Indictment need not set forth a 

specific viable theory of the manner and means by which Defendants’ conduct affected interstate 

commerce in order to satisfy the commerce clause.18  While Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 

                                                                                                                                                             
in a State, Territory, Possession, or the District of Columbia and any point outside thereof; all commerce between 
points within the same State through any place outside such State; and all other commerce over which the United 
States has jurisdiction.” 

15 Superseding Indictment at 2. 
16 Id. 
17 See, e.g., United States v. Alfonso, 143 F.3d 772, 776 (2d Cir. 1998) (“We have no doubt that Count One 

of the indictment in the instant case meets these basic pleading requirements by accurately stating the elements of 
the offense charged and the approximate time and place of the robbery that defendants allegedly conspired to 
commit, thereby providing sufficient detail to allow defendants to prepare a defense and to invoke the protection of 
the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment against any subsequent prosecution for the same offense”); 
United States v. Whitfield, No. 12-418, 2013 WL 1934547, at *3 (E.D. Pa. May 10, 2013) (holding that allegations 
that Defendants “attempted to obstruct, delay, and affect commerce . . . by robbery” in that they “unlawfully 
attempted to take and obtain . . . property, that is, cocaine, from other persons . . . ,” are sufficient to satisfy the 
Hobbs Act’s commerce element); United States v. Nestor, No. 3:09-CR-398, 2010 WL 3191888, at *4 (M.D. Pa. 
Aug. 11, 2010) (“Each count in the indictment which deals with the Hobbs Act alleges that Defendant ‘did attempt 
to obstruct, delay, and affect . . . the movement of articles and commodities in commerce.’  This alone is sufficient 
to allege a violation of the Hobbs Act.”).  See also, generally, United States v. Huet, 665 F.3d 588, 596 (3d Cir. 
2012) (finding sufficient “factual orientation” when the allegations specify the time period during which the 
violation occurred and identified the specific weapon involved); United States v. Salazar, 485 F.2d 1272, 1277 (2d 
Cir. 1973) (federal courts “have consistently sustained indictments which track the language of a statute and, in 
addition, do little more than state time and place in approximate terms”); United States v. Francis, No. 13-CR-
00064, 2013 WL 5875673, at *2 (W.D. Pa. Oct. 30, 2013) (quoting U.S. v. Resendiz–Ponce, 549 U.S. 102, 109 
(2007) (“an indictment parroting the language of a federal criminal statute is often sufficient[.]”).   

18 See Alfonso, 143 F.3d at 776 (2d Cir.1998) (holding that an indictment alleging a Hobbs Act violation 
need not “specify the precise nature of the effect upon interstate commerce that the government intends to prove at 
trial”); United States v. Woodruff, 50 F.3d 673, 676 (9th Cir.1995) (“Although the indictment contained no facts 
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12(b)(3) allows courts to examine whether the alleged facts are appropriately encompassed by 

the charged offense,19 this is not a case where the conduct, as alleged, falls beyond the scope of 

the statute as a matter of statutory interpretation.20  Rather, the question of whether Defendants’ 

alleged conduct in fact affected commerce, as alleged and required under the Hobbs Act, will 

depend on additional facts to be adduced at trial.  In its briefing, the Government has outlined 

potential theories for proving the effect of the alleged robbery on commerce that rely on the 

source of the stolen currency, the identity of the victim as an ATF informant, and the nature of 

the planned transaction.  While Defendants dispute the viability of these theories under current 

case law, the Government has not yet made a full proffer of its evidence, and an evaluation of the 

legal sufficiency of the Government’s case will depend on facts not fully apparent from the 

pleadings, such as the nature and scope of the ATF’s participation in interstate commerce and the 

details of the alleged planned firearm transaction.   

For these reasons, Defendants’ motion to dismiss will be denied.  To the extent 

Defendants intend to challenge the legal sufficiency of the Government’s evidence with respect 

to the commerce element of the Hobbs Act, or the constitutionality of the Act as applied to 

                                                                                                                                                             
alleging how interstate commerce was interfered with, and did not state any theory of interstate impact . . . the 
indictment was sufficient as written.”); United States v. Williams, 679 F.2d 504, 509 (5th Cir.1982) (“An indictment 
which alleges the interstate commerce element of a federal offense in conclusory terms, without setting forth 
evidentiary detail, is not insufficient.”); Nestor, 2010 WL 3191888, at *4 (“While Defendant contends that further 
factual specificity as to how interstate commerce was or could have been violated is required, courts have 
consistently held the contrary.”).  This is consistent with the general reluctance of federal courts to import the 
pleading standard for civil cases into criminal pleadings.  See, e.g., United States v. Gerebizza, 720 F. App’x 302, 
305 (7th Cir. 2017) (citing United States v. Vaughn, 722 F.3d 918, 926 (7th Cir. 2013) (“We do not believe that the 
concerns guiding the Court’s approach in the civil context apply with equal force in the case of a criminal 
indictment.”)); United States v. Fisher, 291 F. Supp. 3d 356, 361 (W.D.N.Y. 2017) (declining to “turn the well-
settled ‘succinct’ criminal pleading standard into something more akin to the standard for civil pleadings.”). 

19 United States v. Huet, 665 F.3d 588, 595–96 (3d Cir. 2012) 
20 C.f. United States v. Panarella, 277 F.3d 678, 685 (3d Cir. 2002) (“[A] charging document fails to state 

an offense if the specific facts alleged in the charging document fall beyond the scope of the relevant criminal 
statute, as a matter of statutory interpretation.”). 
 

. 
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Defendants under the Commerce Clause, such challenges are premature at this stage.  

Defendants may assert their arguments at a later stage of the proceedings upon a full proffer of 

evidence by the Government.   

III. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons discussed, Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Counts One and Two of the 

Superseding Indictment will be denied.  The denial is without prejudice to Defendants’ right to 

challenge the sufficiency of the Government’s evidence regarding the Hobbs Act’s commerce 

element at trial.   

An order follows.   



IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 
 FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  :  
      : 

v.    :  CRIMINAL NO. 17-617 
    : 

NAMIR WHITE and    : 
DARRELLL WYLIE   :  
 

ORDER 
 

AND NOW, this 15th day of June 2018, upon consideration of Defendant Namir White’s 

Renewed Motion to Dismiss Counts One and Two of the Superseding Indictment (Doc. No. 48), 

in which Defendant Darrell Wylie has joined, and the Government’s Response thereto, and for 

the reasons stated in the accompanying Memorandum Opinion, it is hereby ORDERED that the 

Motion (Doc. No. 48) is DENIED.   

      BY THE COURT: 

      /s/ Cynthia M. Rufe 

      _____________________ 
      CYNTHIA M. RUFE, J. 
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